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CHAPTER - II

Life and Personality 
‘ °£Gokulnetha 3I

(i) Introductory
So far, no historical and dispassionate . 

approach is made in writing the life of GO, nor all 
available material is exploited. I have tried to gather 
all available material and depicted his life and 
personality in a very shoft form. Disciples of GO 
have written extensively on his life. . Out of these 
Kallola of Kalyana Bhatta, the five Tarangas of Gopaldas 
and Saoiana Mandana of Mahavadasc. are important. There ^ 
works are mostly unpublished. I have seen relevant 
parts of these works end have tried to sift out an 
element of exaggeration and have outlined the life 
of GO dispassionately.
(ii) Childhood & Education

S’ri GO’S real name was Yallabha.and his 
father, S'ri YT."was.always calling him by.that name.
He is also referred to Si his (YT’£) letters as S’ri 
Yallabha. That was the name given to him, according . 
to the astrological considerations, and S’ri GO mentions 
himself as Yallabha in his works. But he is popularly 
known as S’ri GO in the sampradaya and among his disciples. 
It is daid that at the time of his birth one of the
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followers. Krsne-dasaL, uttered spontaneously, "come
• • •now my Gokulsnatha1*,1 and hence he became known as 

S’ri GO. It is also probable that-be is called so, 
because he established his seat (gadl) at Gokul which 

became very much famous, populous and rich on his 

account.
Among his disciples, he is also known as 

S’rijx and Mahaprabhujx. His another name () 

according to other astrological calculations based on month,

was Krsna and his nakstra - name was Damodara.
• • • »

He was born at Adel near Allahabad on the 
seventh day of the l^rght half of the month of Marges1 irsa 

of 1608 VB. (1551 A.D.). He ..was the fourth of the 

seven sons of S’ri IT • It is reported that some 
inexplicable, unintelligible joy spread among the 
followers of the sect at the time of his birth and some 
good auguries were noticed, and hence his birth was 
celebrated with unprecedented enthusiasm. A detailed 
description of this celebration, of course exaggerated, 
is given by Gopaledasa Vyarlwala in his Prakatya -

L p —Siddanta. S’ri IT also experienced an indescribable 
joy and celebrated his birth with giving alms to Brahmins

1. of. cRT *r fs*rr*r % *ftf3Frr*r w
arrawTs»[ffc thwt ..................... i
-Mahavadasa’s Sajjana - Mandana VI.- 12, 15•

2. Of. Mr. l.L.Gandhi’s Life of S’ri GO - P*80.



and others.
A manuscript, titled 9ft ijuffCf

srddt m #rrc (jf* grwNnr -

the following information;

ft TTd wt «t ar*r *t ysrffaft %
xKunr<fcf< *rt sit d®r 9ft wft ¥ mm arcr ^ft $
<34 tfRd Tftr tRt dRTTtt JT^T Wt 4* 9T^*T 8ftfW 5|
f|*ft % aft* $ft CRT^ jpcit' f^TTSHTT^ dff §4

3R** it 41 «TTfi# f*f gqrfa qr^d % cR ^ft

\ mt «rrir dt i?mt srr^r ipnt frnrNd
3RT qcf Hdd ire Vft *F4 ^l*lt dt eft fRft % 

f*=crt 47 f*r %rr ^f^ri dr<r ^ pnr wnt srr^r 
ftrct cfe dtcf it 3t WT*& Tfttt jftd \l clT si Wt 

■PR9RT P*& %l dTifs«Tvft H 5T^ *N 41%
14 <pnt S^cf %1 dtf f4dT sstd W4t Tf^cf %l3

This shows , that Damo dardesa, who died in 

1607 V.S. took re-birth as S’ri GO . But this is 

against the popular belief that S*ri VL was re-born 

in the form of S.*ri GO.

5. Tide Kahkaroli MS No^Hindi) 92/4/1 - P. 25 & 24.



SiT Gokulanathaji" in his early childhood
(By courtesy of Sri Lallnbhai C. Desai)



His horoscope (4enma-kundall)\r as prepared 

by Seal Joshi who said that the person would be gloried®- 
end majestic and would be a great exponent, champion 
end protector of Shams.

One of the incidents of his childhood is
worth mentioning. On the nineth day of the bright 

dyestha of „half of/1609 Y.S., the anna-praWana samskai* of SO was
performed Sjl the ceremony of giving him food was done.
After he was mad# to eat certain eatables^ S*rl VT put

before him several things and asked him to' take what
he liked, with a view to seeing which of them he took
and finding his attitude. SO took hold of the skirt
of a woman, took the lhagavata and 2ulasi-mala ' and wa&fe.
in the direction of the nija-mandira. -this, was tgkaii
as Indicating his future great work; vi*. protection
of the lhagavata Dharma where dedication in the manner
and with the spirit of a woman is considered supreme. ^

Next .to this, different sacraments, such as karne-vedha,
Opmdl^kamo'etc., were duly performed. le was a'beautiful;

•••52«*«

4. file appendix lo.l

5* Tory Interesting description of "his childhood - 
activities is given by Gopaladisa in his Praktya. - 
Siddhanta, e.g. how he tried to start walking and speaking.' 
Damodardasi as Bodaddasi and pleased his parents anf '

followers*



...53.*.
child and attracted all relatives and attendants. If 
liked to play with cows and calves aad Ms lev# for that. 
animal was great* then, in after-life he left Gokul at . . 
the bidding of Jehangir, he took all his cows with hi*.

When he -finished -his seventh year, the sacraii-eni 
of giving hi* tiie sacred thread was performed, on. the ' 
sixth, day of the bright half of Cjiaitra of 1§1| V.8. 
this- occasion was celebrated with great pomp and 
enthusiasm, as S*r£ ff loved hi* most*

it the age of five, he started learning. -:H§. 
was gee taught B8la-Hsmayana, Amira-Xoe•a and different
Sanskrt poems which he learnt with ease. But the religions.-

* •

ceremony of starting teaching was performed later i.«f*. 
after upanayana-samskara. He was sent, to larayima^''- '
of Karnataka for learning* He learnt through, him

• •
.different darsanas and S'astras, literary works and 

6. Gf. *TTW W ffTI | fr w W Ctw Wf,
n% #r m m itf&nu 

ifrpqrri ft wrif vfc mix,
#f % ITU WT, *IPI dt Wtlf I*? I

- quoted inthe Life of GO by Mr* l.L*Gandhi 
from Haloddhara of Gopaladlsa, P.275.
6^(a) Of* riwrtWf c?rvfi l Q 1

- Hallola - II-J0-1.



Bbigavaha etc* Sis retentive capacity was good and 
so he pleased his parents and others by repeating 
what he learnt at the guru's house* He need used to 
point out mistakes of his co-students and taught then 
the right lessons* He was not interested only in 
studying the sacred and literary works i*e* in mental 
exercises; he was also interested in physical exercises' 

and. hence used to go to gymnasium, learnt there many 
gases and exercises* He was -found fond of riding 
horses- and always liked to travel on horseback and not 
in a bullock-cart or on an elephant* It is said that 
his manner of playing different games with his friends 
was royal*

In the year 1561 .*•£• (V.S.1617), the 
village Adel was ruined on account of the mi-lit ary 
activities,.of Akbar and therefore ft**£ Tf . .decided to 
go to Gadha, (an historical place in Bundelkhand but 
not identified today,) .where the queen Durgavatl ruled 
•nd where he was given a royal welcome by the queen* 
S'ri TO lived there for nearly three years end left 
the place in the year 1611 ¥*§-#, for Sokul and Mathurai 
when Jkbar invaded Gadha.

m
during this journey, once it so happened 

that all be cane very thirsty on account of severe 
heat* S*ri ITT went in search of water* One of the 
attendants, had a pitcher full of water with him* §0



did not take that water even though very thirsty, f@r 
it was considered irreligious to take water that was 
polluted. He took tater when brought by S'ri • 2jS";.

this way, he was. scrupulously following' the pzsggpt*'' 

of the 4 elders and customs of the sect.
They reached Gokul in 1622 V.S. (Bhldrspsd* 

Irine.-.gnd day.) and were received1 with ceremony by the. 
people of lahavana,. Hare -S'ri ff built necessw^tehpMs. 
for the worship of the 'lord,... houses, stables and cow-pans, 
luring the festival of <3anma-astamT, there arose a..dash:
between the Veisnavas and some people of Mahlvene* S'ri

'• '♦* '

VT thought that he -would not be able to do seva with: 
ease and quiet end left Gokul for Mathura on the tenth 
day of the bright half of Kartika of lit?. 7.S.

It lathura, S'ri Vf eeatqCi. .to the great 
Pandit §-*ivadatta Bhatta (Saadatta^ according to 

Mahlvadisa) for learning the S'astras. It is said thatv. 

he did not pay' much attention to the- 'study of the 
scriptures, but was always engrossed in... the -reading of 
the Bhagavata* - When other students complained that 
Vallahha did not prepare his lessons well, the guru 
asked him certain questions, to which he replied ©orreotly* 
fhe guru then inquired and found that he was reading 
the Bhagavata most of;the time. He, therefore, came

• *.•55* »•

?. fide Saj 3 ana - landana Chapter 6.



to keen? that GO had got sharp memory and was much
He

interested in reading literature of^Bhaktimarga*
(iii) Marriage and Family affairs

At the age of sixteen 6® was married to
■g _

eight year old Psrvati , daughter of Tens Bhatt«#om' 
Thursday, the second day of the dark half of Isadha^ 

of lip- V.S* lister his maternal uncle and others 
pressed Mm for a second marriage, is Parvatljl did 

not conceive in her early 'age, hut GO did not do so 

and was adamant on that point*
In lip V.S., at the refuest.of the people 

of iahivana, S’-ri TS decided to stay,.at Gokul 

permanently and after going there hmilt houses with

8* the 252 flrtls. give a story of Eisorih^i. (Tartl.

No *209), where it is stated that EisorihjSai would he 
the wife of GO in the next hirth* Of*

anrqr uTtr - fWhfrrif v*r' Vt^r
it i tffr li

STff *IT*at *i - - -

-252 flrtisi fart III - *.15$ (ed.hy Bwsrkadas farikh)

9. According to Gujarati calendar it is Jyestha « 
Gopllsdis has given a long description of this marragt' 
festival, of hundreds of clothes and ornaments given to 

the hrid# and the relatives - which throws light on the 
customs and prosperity of those days*



nija-mandira for the lord’s seva*
It is reported tliat .S’ri Iff knew beforehand 

of tie end of Ms worldly existence* He left 
Gians'yarnedi (who was still a small ley) to the care of 

@0, and then told him (GO) in privacy to serve tie lord' 
o'ri HatHajl to tie lest of Ms ability and follow the 

'"precepts of S*ri fl* flea le gave lim <t§) lie (W*B). 

own mala sod some of lis written *«&$$•'' He passed away 

on tie seventh day of tie month of Ms#® of 1141.. ?*.§•
It is said flat le wrote two letters before le passed 

away and kept them wider Ms gadi. One of them' contained 

sm advice to all to act according to the advice of G§ and 

tie otler contained advice as to how they slould perform 

lis. tiaeral rites* ^
H*.JL #m~siiillr?^'Incident is reported by lahiva^Sata in

lis saddana - Mandana , Chapter If t
• • *-

vide also !attvartla-dolsn4-1 Anmgrala ¥ol#lO .«*

tTrrfsT yrffon u«u

IPPPT iTrM w|
wr wf ft mr&tf wr^ wfom:i

11 ri i



GO had first three daughters end next 
three sons whose names were Gopaladl, Vitthalrayaol 
and Vrsoaratnadl. the, first and the third, sons had, not 
their lineage continued, whereas the second son had-', 
few sons* is regards the discontinuity of the 
lineage of Gopalajl, it,, is said that his father;
(i.e. GO) cursed him so. Once the personal deity 
tdevy#*svis!%a) of Ghanas’yamadI WhlLstolen and he, 
therefore, took an oath not to take":fiiMI until, ha . 
got back his svgrlffi* GO had great low# for .
Ghana*yama$t and hence could not see his. (Gh»nas,yi»«dl,d>^ 
agony end so he pronounced a curse tbet,.the Has age of 
the thief would not continue.* It was later found.ths#. 
some children including GopaladI stole the grarlps out' 

of sport*. Some servants and faisaavas requested 00 
to withdrew such a severe, curse, hut he' neither 
withdrew not minimised it*w Whatever he the truth.,in 
this anecdote, one thing i§ quite clear' that GO' loved 
his younger., brother most, and could not see him

11*. She incident is reported,in the U7th 
Vachanamrata in *f*ri GiridharajI Maharaja ke 120 

faehaaamrata* Of* ^ Wf ^ $K ‘fcjfr ,m¥t:
- t - - - - ?*0W4.



S’ri GO was very popular with the followers 

Of the soot* 11s wisdom and learuedaess, religious ^ 
attitude and even his handsome physiognomy attracted 
many people towards Mm- His eldest brother tiridhpralf

became envious of him* GO mas generous hearted an<t
give alms freely* Giridhar;}! Sid not like «11 this .and: 

telt that he and his family were getting ruined on

hsidunt of if*. $©, he proposed to all his hrftbefb-1®
get separated and to aistaa&pte tfce §*i(er% among 

themselves. GO said that it was in the interest of ,

the family to live together and that the family would . 
lose its strength by partition. GO again in Id his . 

elder brother that the latter might not bother about 

family affairs and all the responsibilities, of the 
large family would be fulfilled by him («.i.e. GO). But 
Giridhar jl did not like the idea and persisted in getting, 

separated, and GO had to yield. GO..,, got sspsrated. tmm ■' 

Giridhar jl against his (the former(s) wish and took,.. , 
under his care his youngest broths# Ghsnas'yimall , and 
his nephew Kalyanaraja, son of Govindara|«ol. Hardly 

any property was given to hi& (GO), but he
did not quarrel and took it as God* s will* Many 
disoiplee of §*rl ff came to §0, wfc® asked them to serve. 

Giridharadl, but when they did not like to go to him

11(a) Of. Kalyana Bhatfe*s Eallola III - fsrahga #1*
a • •

TWk staler: IUf etc.



(Giridharjl), GO allowed k them to stag with his to sew 
the Lord* Many followers brought presents to his# tne 

person named Devs Devs da offered his (GO) his own house 
and so. he could start doing LordCs 2eva in the usual 

manner# He had great respect anS. love for his,,oldest- 
brother# He used to seek his C eldest 6rother1 s) * 

permission before doing any work, as it is suggested by 
the rase-prasanga referred to in the story of, Oj^iturbtesa^i^ 

Sven after the incident of partition, Ms respect and 
love for Ms brother did not diminish* We find it fully 
evinced in the Mala - prasanga. He went to _ see S^idrlpa. 

in the company of Ms eldest brother, so that Ms 

(^iridharail’s),respect would be maintained#

(iv). Journey to Gujarat ...
face Harivams' abhai of ihmedabad wrote a 

latter3^, to .$$, request in;- him to visit Gujarat and giv# 
11(b). 252 Vertas Part lll - P#5^5 (D.Parikh's edition), 

it* of. rPFwr f fiiliafr ®ft tmft M,

^ wrx iff, W ^ti -

- Gopaldasa 1 , Gujarata-gamanai iinugraha IV - ?*:pt -
Also see 252’firtls 'Bart I,?* 19 (*d# hy Bvarkadas farlkh) 

ft pTH HfFH Wff W?t, ft VW
■ftrpi^i n mft » wft wf^rnft ft HTfT?*=*r f*iWT#i

ftx wtwt vMwtt ’r fmft » it ft mw ft ft^pmft 
ft «<Tl\yryt -ft' *WT% l TTWIf Wt% I
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a dars* ana to the »any4(fehaktael separated fey a long 
distance • Pava Travadi and others, who were his 
ante-vasfs , toe pressed him to go to Gujarat and lie 
consented* Ch’smpabhax prepared everything necessary 
for the journey, (which was really a hard task in . 
those days) and GO started with the blessings of his 
elder sister S'obhajI . and others, on the nlneth- day ■ 
of the bright half of C|iaitra of 1646 Y*8., at an 
auspicious time according to astrology*^ Before 

leaving Goknl, he instructed all servants and followers 
and relatives as to how to serve the lord in the best, 
possible way. He asked cfsspSbhSi, the charge-d-affaira, 
to look after the eomforts of all the disciples of i?**!. 

fit and i*ri Vf, and to see that no disciple feels. 
unhappy on account of his or his father’s absence, 
poring his stay at Goknl, he always saw that no Vadgaavs 
felt unhappy. or., dissatisfied on any account and he took

If* 9 A detailed desciption of GO’s journey to. Gujarat 
and visit to different places there# is given in fiasik- 
4asm or Gujrht» - Srasang* of Gopaldasa and. In. the . ^ 
fourth and the fifths parts of Kallola by Kalyaga-Bhatta* 
these works supply a welth of information about the

I,rfgeography, society and religious practicesGujarat during 
the Ifth Century*



pride in whatever service tie could is' to the Vaianavas.
• #

He kept horses, chariots sal carts sad
various attendants, including a washerman* He visited 

14,several places , big and small, villages, -ferns,.and .
fie -J.v. ■ g.v . .

cities; and initiated many mem and women into^Pusti-marga 

without looking to their caste and their high and low 
status in society, It visited small villages like. 
-HaihUia and iltardS (mow in ilbarkaftha District), . . 

cities like Udepur and Aairva (now a part of Jitaiediba# 
and initiated into (Pusti-marga the sixteen queens Of" 
king Viramdevs of Vijapur, the king Punja laval of 
Modasa , who presantad him the village Antisardum, ^ 

and &«®g|?Iya , Madnavdasa and frindavan (AsarvI) ,who 

belonged to the low oastes, and visited Harpal Bhils ' 
of Plsaod who was a disciple of i*rl ?® * While'

- V:V«'.

joum.ytag to differon^plsees In Gujarat and oloewh™.
he always preached that there is no distinction of M§h

1. 'and low in.Pustiaarga and thatthe lord Krsna accepts the 
tiiue devotion ©f the bhakta and is' mot drawn by his 
wealth and pomp* It some places, life Asarva, he stayed 
for comparatively a longer, period and showed to the 
followers the way of lord's seva in full details.

14* fide appendix I©*2.
15* §f* artfticf wm % %i, i*fr PifcT pr*§ 1

- Easikaraia 111 - 12^3-12@(Ainigraha Jf P.|Si.)



from Aslrva, SO weft to Dwaraka* one of

the sacred places In Western India. He pat up at 
Blngadari (Modern Bhahgadhra?) , a small piece* It is 
reported that his people searched for water in pends 

but could not find water any where. GO told them that 
they would find water in the pond nearby which they had 
already gear died in wain* At the bidding of SO, the 
servants went there and found, to their surprise, 
clear water in the pond* People were impressed by this 
inexplicable event and were convinced^ Of his divinity 
and his mystic nature *^®^

Other mirculous events are narrated in the hallola, 
e*g*;g cow was saved by him from the fatal effects''' of 
poison of a serpent (Eallo'la 11-37) and he rngde it to rain 
by uttering the Par o any a Sukta (lallolg II - 53). (®uo|i . 

incidents are reported in the case of many saints and the: 
modern man with his scientific outlook would not fain- 
accept them as true happenings. It is possible that' 
there may be an element of exaggeration in the report of 
such events* .But we cannot throw them off as n©n»sense,; 
f©r there is st least something mystic about life -and the 
lowers of the Soul.)



...64.V.

He reached Dwarake on; the_ thirteenth day of 
the dark half of the month of Bhadrapada of 1646 Y•$», 
stayed there for eleven days, honoured the learned 
Brahmins and taught the Gufalls C- the Brahmins who had 
the right to serve the lord Ranachodaji - ) the right 
order and spirit of the lord*s worship.

Prom Dwarka, he again«n*e,.to Ra;janagea^i.e. 
Ahmedabad. Once a Brahmin.named Swte Birar-bheta came, . 
there and challenged all to discuss with him theological 
and philosophical themes. and propounded his own 
(unnamed) doctrine in refutation of all.. He came, to,

•i. ~ %
S*ri GO and challenged him that he (Bara-bhata) would 
defeat him (GO) in a dehate. GO heard what he said at 
length and then silenced him by various authoritative 
statements from the Yedie texts andjither scriptures. 

Similarly, at Surat too, he discussed with a Brahmin 
Harikaka and Rahgooi , the scriptural tenets and 
established the truth of the ■ Bhaktimarga. ^ ,,

l£. Yide Gujarat - Prasange Mahgalya 13, hy Gopaldasa.
17. In tbs work called S*ri Gokulanatha^I ki Bethakana ke 
Gharitra, it is stated in the description of the Bethaka 
of Adel as follows*
«ft YtjpFnrWt anrafr m imrmraft

m 3tt^ ssf m m Yrftr «m?r
wWi i m wt iTssfir ism i — -

Ii;jav$rta - Gharuvarta (ed. L.C.Desai) P-319-20



from fi ao sue gar, lie went to South Gujarat 
at the request of many followers and then returned to 
Gokul, via. Ujjain, on the second of the."bright half of 
Vais’ikha of 1647 V.S. i.e. after a year*

It appears that he kept many "boohs and even 
scribe# with him while on journey and taught the Y aisnavas 
the importance of both nams-seva and svarupa-seva. He
sometimes presented sertain works to the Yaisnavas* One

• • 18MS of Suboaidm dated 1646 and 1647 is found, in Kspadvanj} 
(Diet. Kaira) at the place, sacred to Benaji-raje, popularly 
known as Benaji-raja's - Kotha and the last page (Ho.488) 
bears the words • During his journey in Gujarat
GO visited Kapadvanj and therefore it is dafe to surmise 
that he might have got the MS prepared there and might 
have given it to some follower.

...65...

18. The-end <£ the first skandha bears the words* 
34^ tW 44T 3rWTT€TiW 45T TWT

tfrfWt 4 mm W*4I |
The end of the third skandha bears the words*

wr gfft 11
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(v) Discharging of Debts i

S*ri YT had incurred some debt Before he passed 

away, and that amounted to nearly 32 thousand, of rupees 
when GO returned from Gujarat. Giridharajf said to the
eve^h' (3ryJ L&, * wc^j • wol~ te". ' *Or ft.*—debt£ and that -they Should get it repayed by all his 
brothers, as S'rl VT had.incurred it. fhe. creditors said 

that it was he i.e. GiridharajX who signed the documents 

and that they could not ask any of his brothers to pay 
it off. Once they gathered and observed a. sit-down 
strike at the door of the temple of S'ri lavanitapriyegl 

and did not . allow the Raj a-bho ga-ihala to go into the 
nija-mandira • . When GO came to know of this incident, 
he said that if Dada (i.e. Giridharjl) asked him (GO)' 
tc^pay off the debts, he would do so. And the creditors 

showed the letter of GiridharaJl who had stated .that 
Tallabha (i.e. GO) should pay off the debts. On reading 
the letter, he took an oath that he would not take 
meals unless he dischargesthe debts incurred by his ■
saintly father. Disciples, of GO were terrified by such 
an oath. He was thinking of warding the difficulty, when 
one follower, viz. Ladabai of Sana •/ fhambhor requested 
him through PaJra 'iravadl and others to take meals, as 

she had asked the money-lenders to take the amount from 
her. After repeated requests from the Vaisnavas , GO

18(a) Of. Kallola VI - farahga 81

ftcrmrhi



••#67• • •

____ ufU-oaccepted the offer of Ladabal, L desired bo present 
most of her property to him.

One more incident of his generosity is noted. 
When the above incident happened, Giridharagl was out of 
Gokul. When he knew that the debts^are paid off, he 
started for Gokul* GO, out of respect for his elder 
brother, went to receive him# He was rising a horse, 
whose was named Isyanadukha1^ (Delight of the eyes), 

and the horse was really so handsome that every one was 
pleased to see him, Muralidharajl, son of Giridharajl 
expressed his. desire to have the horse and GO gave him 
(the horse) up to him, even though he (the horse) was 
very dear to him.

In 16^1 V.S. he (journeyed to the different 
sacred places, in fiorth India, viz, huruksetra, Maradvara 
Bslkes'a. etc# and visited, the places where disciples of 
S‘rl VI and S*rl VI stayed# While travelling, he used 
to talk about the nature of Pusti-margs and the way of 
seva# Many of these talks are collected as nectar- 
precepts (vachanamr^tas) ,

GO,unlike his father 8'ri VI , did no 
extensively, as he liked to stay at Gokul and do

•travel. , 
the Lord's

19# Ihie horse was presented fe to him by a vaisnave of1. 1 a - ^ jSurat as shown , in Prakatya Siddhanta of Gopaldss; 
Mahgaly© 13 St# 61# 4
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seva Mm self. In the after-noon sad at Bight after the 
last dars’ans was over, he sat with the followers and 
preached them the doctrine of Pustimarga; explained the 
Bhagavata and the works ..of S*ri VL 8nd S*ri VT • Perhaps 
it is after 1658 f.S«, when many of his social duties 
(sons* marriages etc*) were over, that he. took to 
writing and commented on some of the works of S*ri ?L 
and S*ri VO! .
(vi) The Mala-Prasafigai

It. is in his after-life that a .great event, 
known as Mala-prasenga, took place. It is this, event 
that "brought him prestige and glory as an Scary a, *

i. • “ 21and .which, set. the. .Pustimarga on a sound footing .

20. It should be. remembered that S*ri GO never calls 
himself en Scary a. There is a. tradition, in the . sampradaya 
that S*ri Yl> only is the learya and guru. All.others, 
are guru-dvaras. S*ri ITT is also considered an <acarya 
by some, for^wrote the last one and a half chapter of

Anm-Bhasya.• •21. Of. 5T: .*Sfep*
— Kr isns—rays * s S*ri Gokules’astakaiSt.l

and also Of. Jnsnfor jrf^RTT ^ I
— Hari-rayayl’s S‘ri Gokules*astaka,St.8.
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This event has made GO known as Mala-Prasahge-vaiS 
Gokulanstha;jX. _ .

The event took-place during 1674 - 76 V.-S*22 

(1618 - 21 A*D*)* It is described in details by
Mathapati Kalyana Bhatta in.the 7th, 8th and 9th chapters,

. '# ' * ' •• . ^ r

called Eellolas, of his Saaskrtov work 
-‘tfrt _ and by Gopeldas Vyaravela

in his M'aloddhara. It is in short es follows t

There was an ascetic named Cidrupa residing 
in a cave2^ on the bank of SSpra" near Ugjain* Once 

Gopal Bandy a and Machiya Vyas of Visalnagar, who 
were the followers of the Vallabha-sect, happened to 
see Oidrupa, who asked them why they were putting on 
the iTulasImala and had the tilaka-mark on the fore-head* 
He called them untouchables and hence they abused him 
by calling him a Gandala* From that day, he conceived 
great enmity for the Vaisnavas and was determined to 
uproot the sect* He also envied the position and 
popularity of the Gosvamls and wanted to minimise their 
influence on the people as well as the rulers*

22. Of* (Numbers to the stanzas, are not given) 
tj-fif Kalyana Bhatta* s Hallola VII-1

25* The name of the eabe according to Kalyana Bhatta
is Bhartrhsri and Bhlmarathl according to Gopaldas.

- •
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During that year i.e. 16X7 A.D., it so 
happened that Jahangir, the then Emperor of India, 
was passing through the jungles of Dohad^®\

He was informed by his fiajput companions that there 
was staying a very great ascetic near Ujjain. Out 
of curiosity Jaha&gir went to see him* fhe Emperor 
has noted - his visit to the ascetic in his memoirs, 
named, Tuzuk - i - Jaha&giri, in the following words;

"On the second Isfandarmuz I embarked 
in a boat from Hallyadiha and went to the next stage*
I had frequently heard that an anstexe sanyasi of 
the name of ^odrup many years ago retired from the 
city of Uagain to a corner of the desert and employed 
himself in the worship of the true God. I had a great 
desire for his acquaintance, and when I was at the 
capital of . Agra I was desirous of sending for and

. iseeing him. - In the end, thinking of the trouble it 
would give him, I did not send for him. when I arrived 
in the neighbourhood.of the city I alighted from the 
boat and went % Eos en foot to see him* The place he 
had, chosen, to "live in was a hole on the side of a hill '

25(e). Tide M.S. Commisariat’s * A History of Gujarat 
Tol. II - Chapter V (Jahangir*s lour in Gujarat and His 
Visit to Its Capital (1617-18) > and Chapter VI
(Jahangir*s Second Visit to Ahmedabad (April-September

1618) )l.
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which had. been dug out and a door made."

While returning from Gujarat? Jahangir met 

Cidrupa, which incident he referee to in the following 

words•

M0n Wednesday, the 29th, I had an interview 

with Jadr%3, ••••• Certainly association with him is 

a great privilege • •

"On Saturday, for the second time, my desire 

for the company of Jadrup increased. After performing 

the midday devotions, I embarked in a host and hastened 

to meet him and at the close of the day I ran and, 

enjoyed his society in the retirement of his call. I 

heard many sublime words, of religious duties and 

Imoirledge of divine things. Without immoderate praise, 

he sets, forth clearly the doctrines of wholesome
26sufism and one can find delight in his society”.

Jahangir was much impressed by his Sseeticism 

and his ways. He asked him. (Cidrupa) to favour him by 

demanding anything he (Gdrup9 wanted. Cidrupa gave the

...71...

24. She luzisk - i - Jahangiri, translated by Alexander 

Rogers^Yol. X — P.354.

25. Ibid Yol. II - P.49.

26. IBidf Yol. II - P. 52-55-



••#72#••

Emperor a boon that he and his empire would prosper 
and then said that he did not want anything for himself# 
He pointed out that only onething was unbecoming in his 
empire and that was the ways of the Vaisnavas who wearing 
the ’tulasSmala and doing the tilaka-mark on their 
forehead and were fasting on the Ekldssl without any 
degree of the Das’ aml2^# He warned that that thing 

would bring famine and other calamities in the expire and 
therefore, the Vaisnavas be asked to remove the sacred 
marks, 'Mala and tilska. Jahangir promised to do as he 
bid him to do#

The ascetic, then, began to, harass the 
Vaisnavas and ordered them to. fling away the -tulasl-mala# 
Once two. Vaisnavas, (Erikam Bhatt and Devabhal were seen

• t . ♦ #

by Gidrups# Ihere was a bitter exchange of words between 
Cidrupa end Devabhal and the latter,refused,to do away 
with the sacred marks of Vaisnavism# Oldrupa called 

Muhammad Taki, the Governor of the province and asked 
him to planish Devabhal# He was threatened to be . crushed 
by an elephant but he was adamant# -She- elephant was 
brought and was goaded, towards Devabhal, who was standing 
with full faith in God, but the elephant did not harm 
good&y Devabhal, was later honoured by the Governor with 
royal favour in the form- of a sheet of cloth#

27. of imq i -
- Kalyana Bhatta * Kellola VII - 1.
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After this incident took place, Jahangir 
returned from Gujarat (Falguna of 1675 V.S.) and 
halted at Sikri. GO wentto see him at Sikri as.

S'rl VT used to do. It appears that there was no 

talk about the order as regards the removal ofJMala-
tilak*?8 ............ ...................................

Jahangir, then stayed at Agra for some 
time and decided to go to Kashmir* Oidr%>e, after
getting that news, started to see. Jahangir and get

• • ■“ ' - +{,«_ •- ' :

“ °rfer i6BUea £°f ^“ovalof^ila-tileka
by the Vaisnavas and the.Gosvamls, particularly of 

Gokul, GO heard the news, of his coming through 
S'yamdas Jetly and went to invite him, a sannyisim, 
to have his bhiksa. (dinner) at his (i.e. a house r 

holder* s)place. Cidrupe did not accept his invitation.

28. Both the seventh Kallola and Maleddhira report 
that Jahangir told GO that he intended to talk with 
him (GO) about something and GO. replied that: the

' * "• U-«h, ■■ •

Emperor might do it at..any. time. And he ^returned to 
Gokul. (Phis does, not appear convincing because GO 
would not have avoided talking about thel^uLa-tilaka.

I surmise, that there might not have been ,aoy talk 
about maia-tilaka, otherwise Jahangir should have 
asked him to act according to Gidrupa*s bidding.
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_ Cidr% a came to Mathura and stayed, at
a _ pQ ■ V ^ -

Suryakunda. ' Vaisnsvas of Mathura and VfMavan^eame 
* * _ • • •.

to see him and he. asked them. to removec mala-tilaka.
After a few days passed, Girldharajl and 

GO went to see Cidrupa and bade.him Hamo Harlyana, 

which did not please him*, The*, there was a talk about 
the authorities as regardsfmala-tilaka, Ajgnihotra, 

PaAchayatana pu^a ete*, and GO gave him;proper, 
replies* Cidrupa threatened GO that he waved would, 

get^mala-tilaka removed by the order of the emperor,p

29* The day was Ss'vina S*ukla 10th of 1676 V.S. <f. 
wrPr 3rrf^Ff*rrsF*r ird *ar«rfi~

. .. - Kallola VII - 4
Also read* ... At this time he changed his residence 
to Mathura...... and employed himself in..:the worship of
the true God. on the bank of the Jamna. Is I valued his 
society, I hastened to wait on him and for a long time 

enjoyed his company without the presence of any stranger. . 
- Tuzuk - i - Jahangiri (Rogers* Translation) Vol.U.P.104*

50. cf. 5Tf ifr 11
wWtr: i i 

PPf II

- Eallola VII - 5»
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but GO said that be had faith in Jahangir who would 

not act contrary to religious, doctrine. .
By the time Cidrupa came to Mathura, 

Jahangir had started for Kashmir. The first stay was 
at Karanavela. GO went to see. and offer him his 
blessings. Jahangir ashed him (GO) why he had not

'mm > ‘ 1

remove d^mala-tilaka, whereupon GO replied that he 
would do so, if the scriptures bade one to do so,, and 
emphasised the fact that no scripture had said so.
The Emperor asked him .whether he ,(GO) would discuss 

the. matter with Gidrupa. and GO gave his., consent. Then, 
GO . was asked to go and see him (ttJhe Emperor) at 

Mathura. . . ... '
When the Emperor came to Ravens .koti 

near Mathura^1, GO went to see him with all. the „ 

scriptural evidences gathered. ..The Emperor went to 
honour Oidrupa^2 who asked him to ge^mala-tilska

removed by the Vaisnavas, and to order them, to put on
: • • - . -

rudraksa-mala, if : he (the enrperor) wanted to. be happy 
in all respects./^ Jahangir said that GO was at Mathura

31* It was Kartlka Krsna Ekadas* I: according to 
Maloddhara and Trayoda11. according to Kallola.

32. See foot-note Uo.29*

flfrftarcf g^*tt m 11

- Kallola VII - 6.
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and that be (,Cidrupa) should, do what was proper* after 
discussing with him (GO) the scriptural authorities. 
Cidrup a said that he (GO) should act. according to the 
Emperor's order, for his (Jahangir's) prosperity and 
welfare. Jahangir ^ was in a fix for a little while, 

for he knew that the Vaisnavas were following their 
own religion enjoined by their scriptures, and that his 
father, too, honoured them most. On the te+ other 
hand he was drawn by the miraculous power of Cidrupa.
So, he called GO and asked him whether he would follow 
what Cidrupa said. GO replied, t'who would not act 
according to the order of him wh3 is even honored by 
you, the. Emperor? But let him ask us to do what is 
right according to scriptliral authorities.*'

Jahangir, then; asked Itbarkhan^and 
Asafkhan to see that Cidrupa and GO meet and discuss 
and find out the true path. Ihey. took GO with them and 
went, to Cidrupa. Asafkhan told Cidrupa to discuss, with 
GO, the. scriptural. authorities as regards the mals-tilaka

34. Gopal&as reports^that Memi~bal, one of the Hindu . 
begums of . Jahangir told the Emperor that , she would die 
if the GosvSmi was forced to remove the sacred marks and 
so Jahangir did not take away severe step against go.
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GO said that he was prepared to remove <male?-til8k8, 
if he (Cidr%>a) showed any authority against it* But 

Cidrupa did not do so and asked them to do what, he hade 
them to do, if they wanted to do good to the Emperor*

Itharkhan and Asaf khan informed the Emperor 
what had happened* The Emperor ordered that all had 
to act according to what the. aseetie. said and that no 

one should disobey him* He asked ksaf to get it. in 
writing from GO that he would act accordingly* Asaf 
has a soft corner for GO, so .he told him . that he should 
give it in Writing as desired by the Emperor, but 
consoled him that no harassment would:be made* GO 
gave in writing that, he . would act according, to his 
order, if he (Cidrupa) asked them to do what the 
scriptural authorities enjoined* ^ and went back to 

Gokul on the last day of the KSrtika of, 1676 Y.S.

The Emperor ordered all to pay obeisance 
to the ascetic and started further for kashmir* The 

aseetic was now puffed, up with his influence with and 
power over the Emperor* He, then, began to live in 
the manner of a Maharajja and lived a licentious life*

55* of. «p=£ wftKftyi
"f^WTSTTfl I

- Eallola - YII 7
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He insulted the Vaisnavas and ordered them to remove
• •

their religious marks end many of them even did so 
out of terror* All the shops, selling tSulasi—male 
were forced to be closed, so that no one could get 
a mala*

He, then,; sent some Gurjer Brahmins to 
see whether his order is carried out at Gokul*. It 
was found that GO and his followers had not removed 
the Vaisnava-marks and learning the news, the ascetic was 
enraged* , , .

. Once Yarns’ agopal, a junior officer, had 
been to Mathura* He went to Ci drupe for .paying 
obeisance. Cidrupa told him to bring G0f to him, 
so that he could insult him and make him obey , the - 
order with the help of the officers* He thought to 
bring GO through force and hence prepared soldiers 
for.that purpose* £a| Gadadhara, who was in charge 
of that district, asked him not to do anything 
without his permission in that matter and told him 
that that was not the way to take GO to the aseetie*
Vsms * agopal« went to GO and was much impressed by his 
behaviour and religious-mindedness. He requested GO 
to accompany him to the ascetic, whereupon GO . 
to ld him that it was no . use going to Cidrupa and 
that he would be answerable to the Emperor and not to
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the ascetic.^® This incident was later known* * to 

Dashkarkhan, who was in charge of Agra Division and 
so he called’fans* agopal* back.

The^, Oidrnpa called the officers of Mathura,
viz. SherkhanFozdar, Katardi Koshtha Palska, ¥ali Deda

• .

and others and asked then that they should force GO 
to remove the mall-tilaka, otherwise the Emperor would 
be angry with all of them. They had a soft corner for 
GO, but had to go to GO at the instance of theaseetlc, 
because he was honoured by the gmperor. they told, GO 
that they knew that he (GO) had been on the right path, 
but requested him to do for the time being, what the 
ascetic said. GO replied how he could do that irreligious 
act and again added that one day he would ask the 
Vaisnavas to removefmala and another day he would ask 

to remove the sacred thread; and hence it would not be 
proper to obey' him who acted irreligiously.

56.. This incidents described in both Kallole and 
Maloddhara in details to show GC's provess. Doubts

• ' *jr-'

may be raised as to how GO refused to. obey an officer.
But it might b^ossible that Vans* agopal^had no authority 
to do what he intended to do, as is known from the advice 
given to him by Rsj Gadadhar, an army officer and the

■ iJagi^der in Mathura region.



file officers returned^ and told the ascetic 

what GO told them* He was much enraged and began to
insult and harass all the Vaisnavas with the help of

• •
the officers who thought that they would be bene fitted 
if they followed the ascetic* s orders* Such officers
•told the Vaisnavas that inperial firmans were issued and

• • . .

all the vaisnavas had to remove mala-tilaka. Many of
• •

them did so* Some people believed in the divinity of 
the ascetic and some were drawn towards him (Gidrupa) 
by allurements in the form of promises of higher grades, 
honours, gifts etc. from the Emperor*

He, then, began to live with all the 
paraphernalia (i.e. male, and female attendants) , 
cosmetics, musicians, dancas etc.) of an Emperor* One 
incident of his royal behaviour is reported. He saw 
a favourite lady, wearing a short sari and asked her 
why she put on a short sari* She replied that saris 
with long enough breadth were not available. So, the 
ascetic called all the weavers and abused and threatened 
them 1jo death, if they did not weave long cloth for 
saris. ___

•«.80...

57* fhis incident leads to one fact that Jahangir 
did not promulgate an ordinance to that effect, but 
told his officers to respect and obey the ascetic.
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People were in that way, harassed on many 
occasions* Some Vaisnavas (e*g. Prayagdas, Haradas, 
Bdkafehal and others) went to GO and sought his 
permission to quarr&l with the ascetic and punish

dj\ji ■ -or draw* him* But GO said that he would die of his 
own sinful conduct*

Once, after the Yasanta Panc^aml of 
1677 Y*S. Gidrupa called the officers and.threatened 
them that theywould he punished hy the Emperor as 
they had not executed what hoth of . them had. said* 
f'hep, Sarahgpani (the Shakadar) and Uderam (the kotwal) 
and others went to Gokul* GO received them with dfce 
respect and asked them the cause .of their arrival*
Valida&a asked him why he and the Vaisnavas were

„ i • •putting on the tulasl-mala andjdisoheying the Emperor’s 
order* Gu said that they were wearing the it 
according to the S’astric prescription and asked them 
to show the written order promulgated fey .the Emperor to 
that effect, ^ which they could not show* The officers, 

then, requested him to go to Mathura and see the
/ i ^ _ r (

ascetic, whereupon GO, with great re&mctance, decided 
to go to Mathura, for if he did not go,Gidrupa would 
harass the officers*

58* of. crmr %sf*xr wi wftarov hi i, v - . -- Kallola - YII - 15
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When Hay Gadadlaaradas, who was the 
Jagirdar of Mathura, knew that GO was being brought 
to Mathura, he was enraged and wanted to punish the 
officers, who pressed GO to come* But GO sent a 
message to him that, he should keep quiet for the 
moment, otherwise ehr-e there would be riots* Some 
of the Vaisnevas accompanied GO and did not leave him, 
even if beaten by the sepoys*

When the ascetic was informed that GO 
was brought in Ms presence, and when he was requested 
by the officers to tall^srith GO, he (Cidrupa) was & 
little paSafturbed and scolded them as to why they 
brought him (GO) there^ ° He said to them that he 

wanted to see only that GO put off the mala* GO said 
to.the officers that he was not going to do what the 
ascetic said, that he had no right to harass the 
Vaisnavss and was prepared to see the Emperor in 
that connection*

In Mathura, when G6 ®aw that some Vaisnavas 
have no tulasl-mala round their neck, he gave them 
malas to put on and consoled them that they should 
not fear the ascetic (falgunl Xrsna^ 14th of 1676 V.S.).

Cidrups saw that.GO would not renounce h.« 
mala and was perturbed as to what should be done in 
that regard* It was a question of his honour and 
credit, so he sent^messege to GO through his followers, 
who were promised imperial favours, that he should
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remove jaala only for a short time, ^ and might 

then, put on again* He asked his followers to make 

GO remove his mala by any of the four means (Bp ay as). 

Ihey requested, tempted and them threatened GO, He 

(GO) was told that all the officers, a ay, the Emperor, 

were under the sway of the ascetic and that all his 

family and followers would be ruined, if he did not

obey the ascetic. But GO was adamant on the point
— — 40of not removing the mala and said that he would 

pre^s&p to-p3^tfict-his-Dharnia~-to- ruin, tt, *.<■**'*-y -fu 

When the followers of GO heard that a 

plan to use force for the removal of the mala was 

hatched, they were prepared to give a hand to hand 

fight to the followers of the ascetic and even the 

royal servants! But GO asked them to remain quiet 

and unperturbed and consoled them that theyrl>eing 

on the right path, God would help them and that efea? 

their love for religion was tasted in such calamities.

391 Of. ^-fyrwA fq ni<n i

rt^ *f¥ wsrtV *nTtpfr i i

- Kallola - YII - 22

40, Of. anwfkr h -fim&fsi infix’s

- Kallola YII - 13
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After repeated requests of the followers 
of Cidrtpa, GO prepared himself to see him. At 
that time hundreds of people accompanied him. The 
police prevented the people and there was a hue and 
cry and a hand to hand fight have followed-if thekM, ^ -
ascetic 4M not come out of his cave through fear 

ko • -

and did not ■fold. GO to go his own way, and do what
he (GO) liked. GO, then, went to Gokul end many
people followed him.

x j,

When Oidrupa could not do anything to GO, 
he wrote a letter to Jahangir, stating that all the 
Vaisnavas had removed their tula si-ms la, hut only 
GO and some of his followers were adamant on. the 
point and therefore. GO should he asked to leave 
Gokul. On the advice of Asafkhay^ Jahangir wrote to 
the Governer of Agra Division that he should arrange 
to send GO to Kashmir. The second Yaranga of the eighth 
Kallola notes that the order was received in Mathura 
hy Singhnama Vaidya on S*ravana Krsna AstamI of 
1677 V.S. When GO, received that order, he prepared 
for the journey and started for Kashmir on the ninehh f 
day of the dark half of S*ravsna of 1677 V.S. i.e. in 
rainy season end at the age of 70* The event shows 
the truthfulness of his purpose. Another thing is 
to he noted in this connection. It was a belief snd . 
practice in those days that an Scarya should not cross



Srf Gokulanathajf on his way to Kashmir 
to see Jahangir

(By courtesy of Suddha-advaita Samsad, Baroda)
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tlie river Sarasvatl* But GO did not mind breaking 
the tradition" and did not fear criticism at the hands 
of the Brahmins* But he went to Kashmir for proving
his right stand and protecting the Dharma.

/

Jahangir's residence in Kashmir was at a
distance of 444 Kos* as and he reached there on the
49th day, on the thirteenth day of the bright half
of the month of Bhadrapada* He stayed in Kashmir for
eleven days and returned to Gokul after 91 days*

Both, Gopaldas and Kalyana Bhatta give long
reports of the jjourney with many details* The details
are useful from the geographical point of view* GO
had with him a party of nearly two hundred people
and horses and carts to carry the bags and baggages*
Several taisnavas were accompanying him from place to
place and were returning after some days* Some Vaishavas
did not like to miss the coop any of GO and so, they
accompanied him, even though GO asked them to return
home* During the journey various discussions were
going on* This event reminds one of the plada-yatra
of Vinobsji in our days*

Go stayed in Kashmir in the garden of 
• , - ’ " ■ ■ • • fismpiya,who went to receive him* Go, therefore, came to

know that the # Emperor had gone on a hunt of a month's
duration in the jungles of Kashmir and the Taisnavas

; • •
became despaired of, but GO’ told them that ±1 he would 

return before long.
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GO saw some , of the officers end. was 
honoured by them. On the third day, after his 
$GO*s) arrival in Kashmir, he went to see
n 'Asafkhan who was much pleased, as GO kept his word 
that he would even come to Kashmir to see the 
Emperor in connection with the order for the removal 
of^malartxlaka* Isafkhan advised GO that he^should 
act according to what the Emperor said and that it 
was not irreligious if one removed the mala for the 
time being. He said that the Emperor would be very 
mueh_ angry, if he (GO) did not act according to his 
(Emperor’s) desire and would portend a great calamity* 
GO replied that he would act according to his 
conscience to maintain his religious stand and the 
officers need not feat" any great calamity.

Jahangir returned before the appointed 
period and GO went to see him in the evening on the 
third*11.1 day of the dark half of As’vina^of V.S. 

Asafkhana informed the Emperor of GO*s arrival end" 
he (the Emperor) ordered to usher him in. GO saw 
and blessed the Emperor along with his nephew 
(sister’s son) Madhusudana who presented to the 
Emperor two coco-nut fruits and nine fiupees*

41* Second day according Gopal&as,
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Jahangir, then, asked GO why he had 
not removed the mala, as desired by Cidrupa* GO 
said that no scripture enjoins to remove it at any 
time* Jahangir demanded from why he gave in writing 
ifasc that he would act according to the desires of 
Cidrupa. GO said that he had believed that the 
ascetic would ask to act according to the S*aBtrie 
authorities and,therefore, he wrote that he would 
act according to what the ascetic said in accordance 
with the religious prescriptions! but he (the 
ascetic) asked to do what was against the scriptural 
prescriptions, and, therefore, he did not remove 
the mala* Some officials advised him not to enrage 
the Emperor on that point, but GO was adamant on 
that point end during his talk with the Emperor 
should courage to say that he would not act against 
scriptural prescriptions*

Jahangir, then, said, “you may put on 
a necklace of pearls instead of that of ktulesl, or 
a mala of rudraksa*” .

Go replied, “5ur S*astras enjoin us
r t*to put on^tulasi - mala fid:not any other*

Then, he (GO) quoted some passages from 
the Mahabharat. and ' Bhagavata etc* Jahangir, 
then, asked him to obey his (the Emperor’s) word, 
if not of the ascetic* But GO said that he could
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JiO
not do eo, tut would leave Spiral with all its 
riches at his (Emperor’s) behest, for it was an

- m, m, ■

act of adharma to removekmala*
Cidrupa had written to the Emperor that 

GO should he ashed to leave Gokul, if he did not 
remove the tulasl-mala* So, Jahangir following 

the word of Cidrupa, asked GO to give in writing 
that he would leave Gokul and go to BanSfas. GO 

did so and went to his residence. The Emperor 

was surprised and was impressed - to see that GO 
was prepared to leave all riches for.the sake of . 
a wooden mala* Later the Empress (i*e* Noor-Mohol), 

who heard, the talk between the Emperor and GO said 

to the Emperor that she did not like that GO should 

be ashed to< go to Banaras* It is said that Jahangir,

42. Cf. m > TOT 3dTft% -L.P.Parekh.
Mala Prasahg^no sara P* 62* For details of

, ”* - *' / ' r'

tfralk between Jahangir and GO, see.the 17th to 

**•) ^ " ■ ■ *",19th tirangtos ofu8th Kallola of Ealyana Bhatta •

45. Gf. Ifst MTf cWdWT *fTlT % fm Wt fWT
53T «JT H FT 1-

. Shjts said Jahangir to his earls* - M.L.Gandhi’s

Life of GO. P.271*
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then, modified his order and asked GO to stay at 
a nearby place .he (GO) liked*

Before leaving Kashmir, GO went to see 
Asafk&an* He told him that if he (GO) went, to 
Banaras. the ascetic would still creat trouble and ? 

that he would go to Sukar-keetra i.e. Soram if the 
Emperor allowed him to do so* Asafkhsn said that 
the proposal was right and told him that one person 
be left there and that he would send the imperial 
order in a few days. . Later, GO received.the order 
from the Emperor, allowing him to stay at Soram*

After returning to Gokul, he consulted 
astrologers and decided to leave Gokul for Soram, 
on the fifth day of the -bright half of Kirtika*

' . . fit.

(This reminds us of the .migrations (hizarat)^others 
on political and religious grounds)* It was decided 
to encamp on some plateau to keep free from the 
dangers of floods in the Ganges* In the beginning 
there.were many difficulties* .There were dangers 
from the theives and wild animals* Once, some theives 
took away some omen; but. they were ultimately 
returned* At the instigation of Cidriqsa, the local 
officer forbade the merchants to sell anything to the 
Gosviml and his followers* Only one banla' name 
Udham, sold them different things dls|nisingiy* f
Later, Las ’ ksrkhan wrote to the local authorities not
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-f4,«_ —
to trouble GO, in those ways* Inline an time, Ananddas 

came from Kashmir with a letter from Jahangir, who 
allowed Mm to stay at Soram#

Jahangir returned from Kashmir after some 
time. One day, loor-Mohol told him that he had done 
injustice to GO in asking Mm to leave Gokul. Besides, 

one faquir, too, told the Emperor that the ascetic 
was in the wrong and that he unnecessarily troubled 
GO who was on the right path# Once,,it so happened 
that Jahangir toured the region of Mathura# He. 

passed by a place, which, it was reported was the 
dwelling place ,of Gidrupa# But Jahangir_did not gp 
to him# People gathered near Akrura Ghata and 

complained how the ascetic troubled them# Gidrupa 
tried to turn the Emperor towards him by magic. 
incantations, but he did not succeed. While passing 
through Gokul, he found that it, was all without its 

previous splendour# He told Asafkhsn that he should 
inform, GO that he (GO) should see him (Jahangir)

* tllL
at Agra, and then return to Gokul# GO when informed, 
did accordingly and came ba|ec to Gokul after nearly 

months, on Wednesday, the tenth day of the dark . 
half of Steps Gaitra#, Both Gopaldas and Kalyana Bhatta

44. Gf. 3psr gi=5Rar iftea writ mrv$ wt k i -* %§' %*.. -

- M.L• Gandhi’s Life of GO# &• JQ?*
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have described this event in a poetic style*
In this way, GO underwent all the troubles, 

and even left hie dear Gokul end all property to 
maintain the 'iruth of his Pharma* It was like a 
passive resistance and a non-violent Satyagrahl*
We find that GO acted very resolutely, but at the 
same time very cautiously and wisely and did not 
come in unnecessary conflict with the officers of 
high, rank and impressed upon them that he was 
following the scriptural authorities* He was stead­
fast in his convictions and prefered risk to 
abandonment of his faith* It was a great risk to 
go against the imperial desire, but by his piohs 
life and practical and patient ways, he won the 
hearts of most of the officers of the highest rank 
like Asafkhan and Lashkarkhan* And he ultimately made 
Jahangir, too, to understand the truth of his (GO»s) 
stand* This event bespeaks his love for Pharma, his 
patience and courage, and his sense of renunciation* 
Consequently, this eritical event gave a strong foot­
hold to .the Pustimarga, otherwise it might have got 
a set-back* It is truly a mile-stone in the history

n«- _of^Pushunarga*

Sjk.
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Ibis event brought great credit to GO
and made him known as Mala-pr as angftvsla , as said
above. It is possible that this might have attracted
towards many more followers and they might have
begun to look upon him as God, for in those days,
it was simply beyond imagination to disobey the word
of an Emperor, and that too of Jahangir, known for
his obstinacy, and his senior officials. Several
compositions - eulogies, Kavits, etc. - are written

- 45to commemorate this event.
Shri I.C. Parekh, a non-sectarian writer,

estimates the event as follows*
"Gokulnath, the fourth son of Vitthalnath 

was the ablest of all. By the time he came to maturity, 
the movement of Tallabha. has established, itself well 
in Western India, especially in Mevad, Marwar and 
Gujj'arata. It^now growing in size daily» a matter 
which caused much alarm to the ©rthodox protagonists 
of the Tedic faith. There were many reasons for this 
keen antagonism towards it on the part of the leaders 
of orthodoxy• The church of V allabha had, in the 
eyes of these, committed a grave offence hy giving 
to the Bhlgavata Purina the place of primacy among the 
scriptures .....It has also tresspassed against

aimii.■■■ WM.J ——>!■ TTf-nir— 1 " _ .........—

45. Tide Appendix 3.
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Varras’rama Dharma, the socio-religions hierarchy, 
by refusing to recognise the Brahmins and the 
Sannyasi as superior to others ....

This antagonism, found a powerful voice
c

in the person of a Sannyansin called Gidrupa. He 
seems to have been a person of some importance, for 
■Mar lie had some influence at the court of Jahangir, 
the Emperor of Delhi.... This man was convinced of 
the heterodoxy of the new faith, and he had made it 
a mission of his.life to root it out... Bor some 
time the danger to the church of Yallabha was so 
great that it made many people fear for its very 
existence. " It was at this stage that Gokulnath 
came forward and defied Oidrupajto do his worst. He 
put new courage into the heart of the Vaisnavas,.. 
and went to see the Emperor himself. as far as . Kashmir, 
where the latter was, to seek his protection. 
Jahangir was well impressed by him and passed orders 
that the members of the new faith were to be allowed 
to profess and practise their faith with full freedom. 
The persecution ended thus with a victory for 
Gokulnatha. This.was the first.great crisis through, 
which the new faith had to pasSf and Gokulnath* This 
j|6g then looked upon ever since as its protector.
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and Saviour*„46
4?(vii) Examination of the Ivent of Mala-Prasaftgat 

People may entertain a doubt about the 
truth or the historicity of the event known as mala- 
prasaiiga# fir® may even argue that Jahangir, has 
referred to Cidrupa in glorious terms in his diary, 
viz* Tuzuk - i - Jahangiri, while he has net written 
a single line about GO and the mala-pr as anga, and 
hence the event may be a fabrication by GO*s 
enthusiastic followers. Agaifflp the event is nowhere 
mentioned in the. histories written by the contemporary 
Muslim writers, mew nor a reference to it is found 
in any other works, excepting in those by the
followers of GO and the Pustimarga*

• •. ‘ < 'X - '

She above arguments do not oarry enough 
weight* fhe diary or the memories of Jahangir is not 
a work, mentioning the day-to-day events of his life* 
And not all the events of his life arerecorded in it* 
for example his meeting with Sir Thomas Roe is not 
in the luzuk* Again, he has mentioned Oidrupa at 
two placed in,his diary*; I»ater on, he never mentioned

l.C.Parekh's.Shri Vallabhacharya (ed. 1943 A.D.)
P- 290 - 291.: ... - - -

47* Ihe historicity of the event is examined in details, 
by Shri Ramlal 0. Modi - Vide his Le kha$-Samgraha,P *71 •
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his name* We find that Jahangir was not interested 
in the removal oftmala by the Vaisnavas as such, but

L. v • +
he wanted to please the ascetic and see that his 
(Cidrupafe) word was respected.

Moreover, it appears that no ordinance
was promulgated by the Emperor, that all the Vaisnavas
should remove the mala. Had it been so, Jahangir
should have ordered GO to do so, when he (GO) went
to see him at Sikri in the month of lalgun of 1675
V.S. He only asked his officers to see that they
obey the word of_the ascetic, fhe officers, big
and small, knew that the Emperor was under the magic
influence of the ascetic and,therefore, they tried
to act according to his desire. Hence, GO asked

48the Kotwal Uderam to show the written order , of 
the Emperor, which they could not do. Besides, in 
the case of the GosvamXs, the officers could not use 
force, because they were honoured by the rulers, 
past and present, and had with them the Imperial 
Firmans^ granting them certain powers and rights of 

incomes etc.

48. See foot-note - 38.

49. Vide “Imperial Firmans*' edited by Shri E.M.Zaveri



Had there been any imperial order as 
regards the removal of the mala by the Vaisnavas. 
it should have been throughout the empire and 
there might have been a great uproar, at least 
in some quarters. So, it is quite safe to surmise 
that Cidrupa, having great influence over the Emperor,
asked the officers to force the Vaisnavas to remove* •

the mala. It , is also to be noted that this happened 
only in the region of Mathura, that is, round about 
the residence of Oidrupa and not throughout the 
division or the country. Naturally no mention of such 
an event is found.in the literature of the school 
of Caitanya-^, whose seat is Vr^ndavana, which is 

very near to Mathura. . This fact explain^ why historians 
do not take note of.it.

The event, therefore, might not have 
received any attention outside the Vaisnava world 
of the district of Mahavana* Besides, Jahangir 
himself, ultimately, understood the impropriety °iks Sto,^oL , Ll. -ijLX /£~€c,ua—4 XL<-/■/?

for the Gosvamls, and,'therefore, he might not have 
mentioned the event in his diary, nor did any muslim

50. in this matter, I have consulted GosvsmI Anantdas 
of ?r^ndavana,. who is one of the learned 
Gosvamls of Caitanya-seat.



•••96*.*

writer write about it, as it was derogatory to 
Jahangir.

But the event created a great panic among 
the Pustimargiya Vaisnavas, for it was for them 
a question of Dhrarma, and was an encroachment on '*
their religions freedom* Quite naturally, therefore,
the Pustimarglyas consider the event to be a mile-

. - — ■ - 'stone in the history of^Pustimarga, and the vaisnava
writers, particularly the followers of GO, narrate 
the event in-detail and in ehlogistic terms. Other 
writers, either Hindus or Muslims, keep silent over 
the event, because, for them it carried no significance 
and again because it did not Couch the whole country.

There is enough proof to show that GO 
did go to Kashmir at the call of the Emperor. As noted 
above, he went to Kashmir in 1677 V.S. i.e. 1621 A.D. 
Historical records say that the Emperor went to 
Kashmir in that year. ^ Secondly, the description 

of the long journey of #44 Kos*as and the halts at 
different places,, as ^mentioned in the Malloddhara 
and the eighth Kallola, ace quite correct, from the 
geographical point of view.. Thirdly, that GO went to 
Soram,. is, proved by, the. fact there is a seat (Bethaka)

51« Vide.Tuzuk - i - Jahangiri Vol. II P*1Q1 (Ed.by 
A. Rogers)
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of GO at Soram, and. the followers of GO visit the 
place with great faith as it is connected with 
Mala-prasanga. Borthly,both Maloddhlra and the 
Kallola are not written many years after the events 

took place, hut within 25 years after the event 
happened,and the details of the event, with the 
mention of different persons and places, given by 
both the writers are too many and too varied to show 
the event a fabrication*. It is difficult to believe 
that both the authors took scrupulous care to fabricate 
the event. So, we can say that such an edifice of 
the Mala-prasanga as described by Gopalsdasa and 
Kalyana Bhatta could not be built on only a hearsay 
or on utter falsefood* The event, therefore, is an 
historical one. and not a.fabrication. Otherwise, 
HarirayajT and. others, would hot have referred tp GO 
as the protector of Wala^. We cannot fling away 

the event as unhistorical, only because contemporary 
historians did not take note of it.

The following statement says that the event 
could not have taken place during the reign of 
Jahangir s -.......

52* Vide Venunada - Vol. I - 6 - P.152 

53* Vide Appendix - 3«
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jrrar wj sft ??%i gg«rpr f*ra5rr wpt 
75%3 toWN: % g# *fWt # $ =r# %i aftr tcWIt
¥t tut gtf^% wr % Ht gg¥ %mt %i W sirtt % -ft> 
w ggg Tm^nf % rTwiOten % gre *ft ^ wf 1% g*fftr 
grr% iffcR*f % gWfsir ¥t rfa tm *m yrwcf^r wm 
4 u«=* % afir sft ifiyrrqsft- gqf**r1% §43
«*®® ¥t wF^wrf srr$fr%i f*% #®e$»® (gf «v) if 
wcf^fh^T iigg arffegyf gg% ismcit trr, W {gf ms) 
g® ssws if snnWh% ‘Wft t^*n *rr aftr m. 3rm% t&z 
•f^ft wr *rri m gsrr gg wr ¥t kt g^gt %, -fawT 
#hr srcfjfhr % sft&n argf*g %i g| ms - gg 
imgcf % gtt grgr mto *ft gfffr *f*T m «ft’Vh ^

The above, arguments ape not right* Some 

of the dates are &ee& also wrong, lor, example, the 
period of Shah Jahan’s reign is 1627 -.1657 A*3), 

i.e. 1663,to.1714-15 Y.S. and not I685 - 1715 V.S.

The Mala-prasahga has nothing to do with the political 

upheaval* Jahangir himself has noted about Gidrupa
I-jCJin to memoirs and he went to Kashmir in 1620 - 21 

A.D., in which year (1677 Y*S») GO went to see him.

It is baseless to put the event during the reign of 

Shah Jahan.

54. Harihernath Tan dan t Yarta Sahltya - P*393



(viii) Go3sxLlanatha.il and the poet Akho of Gu.iarat 

Derogatory remarks, against GO and tu. 

Pustimarga are found in some of the books on ^ the 
History of Gujarati Literature.^ The opportunity 

of disparagement rests solely on a stanza, written 

by. a Gujarati poet Akho ( Circa 1615 - 1674 A.D. 

according to E.M. Muhshi and Circa 15$|-1656 A.D. 

according to Dmashanker Joshi), which is as followss

wf W *ftfaHT«r *fWT Wo5& TMt HT4,
fs£r tomtom we.) 

fin TRftrnr, () 

m m it, x? pr 5 w^t’ot ^ ?

«rf %5t 35*1* % MCIw I' ^ <1*1*?

•••99***

55* Vide K.M.Zaveri"s, Gujarati Sahityana Marga- 

Suchaka Stambho P-72 - 73« tftfWT q1f<riHT*Hl' HCHTcfc 

w 3ffanwf % :
ipr wf iftfgffre,«*

** ♦.................. * ^ wnnr $4 s*1*?
and the footnote as regards another reading

spnVt ^anrflr arrsnr «rf arnr % i
See also E*M.lunshi*s 'Gujsrat and its literature^ 

P.I30 and apt- »f4^| - P.45& and G»M«Tripathi*s
-VM#

Classical poets of Gujarat P’-52.
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This stanza is first found in 

(P-458)* These are various accounts of the journey 

of Afcho to different places of pilgrimage* ^ In one 
account‘d it is stated that Akho went to Jaipur 

and stayed there with the Gosvaml • He was not 

satisfied with him as there were no religions 

preachings and.philosophical discussions. Then he 

went to Kashi and while returning to Ahmedabad, he 

visited in Jaipur a Maharaja, son of GO, with 

a view to testing his knowledge, hut was not given 

entrance. It is said that he wrote the above stanza 

to show the evil conduct of the Gosvamxs.

This account is quite baseless, for GO 

never visited Northern .Rajasthan and during GO's 
mundane existence, there was no Pustimwg&a temple 

in Jaipur alias Amer.

Bhri TJmashanker Joshi_ has examined his 

incident <bf Akho’s life in his valuable.and learned 
work, named, Akhos A study(in Gujarati).^ He has 

pointed out that the line in question ( wf*»* )

is found in FW apj of Akho and the following 

lines { tt............. ) are not found in that

56. Vide Umashankar Joshit Akho a study (Guj.)P.S2, 

57* Vide Chapter - I*
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work^8. The work 3PT was written in self­
introspection and self—despise,^ and there is no 

intention of despising either GO orLPustimarga. It 

was Kavi Harmadashankar, probably, was first wrote 

about Akho, His dislike for the Pustimarga,
Vaisnava Maharajas and their followers is quite well 

known. I think, he took the opportunity to belittle

the sect, with quotations from Akho. But it still
» lo

remains a question how the lines »• • •. tPT IK- .... 

etc. came to be connected with the line *FF 

etc.

58. Akho_* A study.P. 3J. Also see what Dr.H.A.Thoothi, 

has stated* “... it lays the fee4a blame on Gokulanathaji.

But the version is not documented and is, therefore, 

altogether discredited — Vaisnavas of Gujarat, P.23S* 

footnote Mo.5.
59. Akho* A study, P.26, W JRdT

wnrl* 'f^rsr cfttSf.Also see Umashanker

Joshi* s AkhanI Chappa - P - 11 - 22. am* jpfa 3PT mrrafTTr I^T
wsfi sfnanf tfffcFrpft wrT fTsjRj60. 'These lines are found in Jada-Bhalrb^Ariga.^T^W^W

Vide Akhana —Ghappa (Ed. D. Joshi) B.JOG •



102* *'•

file question of the meetingpf BO and 

Akho, can he examined from another angle, viz* 

whether Akho went to, Gokul and whether he wrote 

the lines irt wf......... • etc* 821(1 als0 the
* gl

lines sr°T irgi y % arTY etc* wor3£s

ofi the life of GO report. that he visited Gujarat

in Y.S. 1646-47, and he stayed at Aaarva for a

considerable time. How, the date of Akho is
uncertain. On the basis of the stanza ipF* wf • • *

and the date mentioned in Akhd—Glba , which is
621705 V.S., ShTi Umashankar Joshi says that 

Akho’s period would be roughly 1647 — 1710 Y. S •

So, his meeting.with GO in 1647 Y.S. seems improbable. 

Ho work by any of the Vsisnava writers mention 

Akho's contact with GO* But that cannot lead 

us. to state that Akho never went to Gokul and met 
GO. On the otherhand, Akho’s statement ^ is quite 

clear on that point. One can doubt the genuineness 

of the stanza JpF • But we find that Shri

ISaasbankar Joshi lias edited jnfa 3RT after

61. sm % itsft 3TT4, 4T% %% 474,

31% iiwdr cfhft 5nr*T, rsnrq^lr m wm 1
- 0. .Joshi's Akho t A study - P.27*

62. Ibid - P.71 -

65. Cf. 4t»_pr Wl^( Wtm ............. (No. 167)-

-Akheria Ohappa - P. 52.



• • • 105* • •

consulting eight MSS . , most of which contain the 

stanza in question; and we have no any other 

authority to disprove the fact that the stanza is from 

Akho*s pen. .

Ihe fact, in these circumstances, remains 

that Akho might have met. GO in Gokul and been 

initiated injPustimarga by him. It is possible that 
he might have practiced the Pustimargxya bhakti5^ 

for ^considerable time, but his soul might not have 

been satisfied with the mode of worship. But that 

does not mean that he was,disparggingly critical of 

Pustim8rga as some books in Gujarati Literature note. 

If it was so, why did he write the stanza 3r°T «HTW"lsr 
t which quite categorically points out that 

he. had full respect for the three SCary as? It 

appears the^the influence of Bhaktimarga was deep-
g- g- ! ' Cfi

rooted®® in his. mind and he has recommended Bhakti » 

of course Nirguna, instead of Sabina Bhakti, as the

64. Tide Akhana Ghappa P.148..
65. I'he following stanza has an autobiographical touchs

f TOimrTf mwf mi,
tm *rrwr ?fr*r =r-- / ' -AkhOt A Study, P.65

66. (See nest page for foot-note JMo.66) , ,

67. Vide sfftfm afu, >Tft=a rn, Chappa.
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step to Highest Bliss.
(ix) Personality t

Inner mettle of GO was tested in the 
mala—prasaflga and he came out with laurels. But it

i

was not only on that accent that he became great.
It was his exceptional virtues that made him great.
He was learned hut humble. Followers flattered him 
like anything, hut he was not puffed up. He was 
generous enough to hear alone the burden of the 
debt of his father. He was selfless enough to 
give up his own comforts for the sake of others.
He did not hesitate to give away his handsome horse 
Nayanasukh to his nephew Muralidhara* and gave his 
shoes to his brother Balakrsna, when he could not 
walk.68
66. Heads- “On the other-hand, m examination, at least 
of his Akhfcgita, the authenticity of which is unquestionable 
leads us reasonalby to assume, not however without some 
difficulties which may be traceable to the mixed, 
personality of ikha , that the whole book gives en exposition 
of, and depends, more or less entirely on, the scriptures 
of the Vallabhi School. On the whole, the poem is a rosary 
of pure pearls of Vaisnavite excellence, with the 
permissible sprinking of a few stray stones which may 
be traced to the Vedanta of S’ahkaracarya ..-Dr. 2S.A. 

fhoothi* s Vsisnavas of Gujarat (Ed. 1935) F.240.
68. Bee ^oot-note Ho.19 aud also M.L* Gandhi1 s Life^of^GO•
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He was an erudite scholar, hut he

preached more.of practical side of religion than

philosophical. It appears that he read most of the

Ye die and Smrti literature of his time, namely,

Dpnisads, Smrtis and Puranas, quotations from which

are found extensively in his works, he was particularly

a master of, he almost drank and digested, the

Bhagavata and the SubodhTnT. He had a good command
over SaflSskrts. language and wrote well in the itoasya

Style,^ as well as the simple Uritti Style. It
* 70

is stated that he knew well the Ye die accents.

But finding that very few people understood Sa£skrt&, 

he chose to teach through the popular dialect, viz. 

Yraja-Bhasa. Most of his writings in Samskrtx are 

the commentaries on the works of. his father and his 

grandfather whose doctrines he has well interpreted.

In his teachings in Vraoa-bhasa, particularly in the 

or*? irS5t Yirtas and Yscanamrtas, he is original. He 

was a poet, too, as reported by some authors like

Giridhara^i (1854 - 1935 V.Q.), but hardly a few padas
• . «

and dnhas have come to be known as his composition.

69. Yide his commentaries on *Asmst Kul^ln,i, and
*Yt

GayatrX Bhasya and the long commentary on(Savottama btotra.

70. fit. % 3TCT Y3T WTWT Wt eft W I

— dccdT# <0 dd * — Anugraha Yol. 14 P.417.
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It appears that he did not shine out as a good
91poet.

V/he never philosophical and religions 
discussions were demanded from him, he never 
hesitated. He was always prepared to discuss, the

a. tft- —importance of(mala andtilaka, with Gidrupa, hut 
the latter did not show any . inclination for it.
While in Gujarat, he had opportunities to talk 
on philo cophical, .problems at Surat and Ahmedabad^. 

When he was in Kashmir, one pandit visited him. and 
found pleasure in philosophical discussions with 
him. It is reported that the pandit presented 
two works Visnu-Dharmottara and Tyakarana - Sira 
to GO#^

He had great love for cows and prized
them as his Supreme wealth. When he left Gokul
for Sorsm, in accordance with his talk with
Jahangir, he did rot miss to. take his cows with
him. When Purusottamadasa told him that only a
few cows might be taken, he said that cows would

94come with him wherever he went* And while returning

71. Vide Chapter .Ilf ( e. )
72. Vide P.&5- §>—1-5, this chapter.

73* Vide M.L.Gandhi1 s. Life of GO, P.2J5* 
74. ?ide foot-note Io.6.
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to Gokul from Soram, lie travelled slowly j 4>o 
tiiat tlie cows and tlieir calves might not get 

.tired* ' . _

S*ri VI, his father, had great love for 

and confidence in him, for he saw in GO j . fhe 
future Scirya*^ He advised his. other sons to 

follow his fourth son, viz* Vallabha alias GO* In 

many of his letters, therefore, it is found that,
S’rl VI adds S*ri to Vallahha.76 It is said that

many times VI gave his works to. GO for review and
• ■ o

necessary chants; andwhen GO. found them alright, 

he (VI) placed them, in publie* He was a faithful 

interpreter of S’uddhadvaita Pustimarga and, 

therefore, he wrote commentaries on the works of 
VL & VI and as sucJ^he was fully qualified to be a

mm' '

right preacher of Pustimarga, which is evinced in
s, • ®

his works* - '
nuia ■iljiiw—\m—EMiiami — finr~mi^—iw—rrTTT——■

75* S*ri VI once said to Caea Harivanis’ a*

WT JpCTit’ srtT € 3R?r TJcFf *FR*F HT*T i

^nrt ctr % u*r 11
— Prakatya Siddhanta St* 107 

76* Once while S*ri VI and GO were going to some place, 

a disciple, held an umbrella over the head of S'ri 
VI, but S*ri VI said thatjit should be hell over 

Vallabha i.e. GO - Reads _¥§T 4T1 TOT m 
*K Wrm % Sfft? I - Ibid— St. 114*
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He was a good administrator and a kind
care-taker of the Vaisnavas and ascetics.Whenever

« •
any Vaisnava cane to him, he took personal interest 
in his affairs and saw that, all his comforts, and 
conveniences were attended to. fhere are various 
incidentsj ©hich bespeak for his affection, for the 
^hagaradEyas. When he was on journey to Gujarat and '[ 
Kashmir, there were several people, followers as 
well as servants with him. He entrusted everyone 
with some duty but at the same time always inquired 
after their health and comforts. Once during journey 
to Kashmir, Sundardas. Sulkanpuri could not take off 
the nose-bag of the horse, but he did not scold him 
and took it out himself. Once a servant,beat Girdhar 
Carji for no fault of his, and.when GO cape to know 
about it, he dismissed him because he ill-treated a 
Vaisnava. Similarly, he welcomed C^atura laga and 
other ascetics, while on.the way to Kashmir, and . 
arranged for their meals. During journey he asked all 1 
to be temparate in food and drink and sleep and he 1 
too, acted in the same way. Another example is this* 
at Scram it so happened that the servants did not

‘ • 9get burning wood and so he himself went out for
collecting wood in chill cold. He thought very highly 1

77 ^^ the 4fiagavadiy8S and looked upon; them as his self,
77. Of. ypnfa srarms I - - ^attv&rthadohana

_ . - (Anugraha Yol.lQ)P*558<
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and taught his, followers to do the same# In many 
of his nectar-precepts (Bacanamrtas), he has said 
that we should never ill-treat a 4hagavadlya and 
should have the same love for him as we have fon 
the Lord# He kept Menikchand Ksatri ( a disciple of 
S*ri V3*)with him after the passing away of S*ri VI

• 7

and always held him in high respect. Once the 
servants of the Bija-mandir (bhitarida) gave him 
dung covered with cooked rice,.because they had.to 
wait for him on many occasions# When GO came to know 
of this incident, he dismissed all those, servants, 
who were the Sachora Brahmins* Even to this day, 
the Sachora Brahmins are not kept in the Se^e^in 
Gokul.^ This shows his sense of justice to
and love for the Vaisnavas* When he visited

• •
Gujarat, he found how the Gujarati!' Vaisnavas 
loved him, and, therefore, he used to say 
that it was his good luck to have the opportunity

78, Vide Hariharnath landans Varta-Sahitya, P#5Q5( 
( foot-note)
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to see such Jiiagra^iyas*^ Similarly, one 

incident noted, in e BS$ (Hindi Ho #101/1* la 

KaJrikaroli Vidya Yibhaga) of 1746 V.S. informs that

he read the stories of the Yaisnavas with great
• •

reverence and when he could not read them, he 

touched the work to his eyes with great faith*

(Two incidents of.GO's life are.
0f%«JUa- ' v ,

noted in the $Sala of Uabhadasa ( Circa - 

1640 Y.S.)•

79* Of* vTRft TOTHUT T& dt.

^ ^ WNfrr *rcft %

fCT 4>ftsc | - - Copal das - fi asika-rasa-Anugoaha

Vol.IV, P.381 - Also reads - qir

9#ri ■ft^K’Pwfr dl’Tiwt wr pm i c^rfeWt
anr^ 9ft *nTsp1% -iwn wrti i fwtk
srfd siTfSf «r ii Vr 9T4 an^ $r dTC^) % 11

gt % fir 3TT% an%*l I if dT^T I i

c*TTT 4T*T3drrr TT3f dtcST % i l 3fT% dt %

wt 3rr^ h 5#riu----------------- ---------------

-AMS.of Ya<|ilmrts belonging to Shri 

Chimanlal M* Yaidya.



wri irtfcRTwt $ vts ^ m€t % 
fercr 5rr^c -fWr f^ 'ngt f*n»r f¥f^ * i cn£r 
2pT f^ *‘f¥sr vrg ^ f«$psr jftfsr vt srref^d

%r &ok f^rr ffc 'IWt *f *ttC 3fTq% wr 1%
§*?$ gltciw tt mf, m ^f pt f$m *tf m gwr,

wfe tWW 1w <fr 3% >ftf ^WHT«rr*r% vi°ff $
^ ' 80 wn t^rr arrdTi

¥r*=iT v?$ *fafr «ff^r % ttit wt\ wttvt . 
SRdT «rr 3J*IT CTR^f % PftTTWfaST aSNf ¥T ^f vpfa pT ?TdT *FT I 

Ff*^ TT^P (STfTsft-) VT H ^ FS fcP£ 
crq^t ^ >fta (f^nr) f^rr efti ^#r n 
pri Sff 5Ty«ft*r cfifa FTd VTTWT V*F=T 3 3JWT ¥t t* 

^ifTpprm % «pc -ftp ir »ffa f*rc*nr *iv FF=cr3rt arrqfc <fr 
fqprq- it ^ w *fwt% w f^rr i m nt«HsCfe vsfe 
gwr, «f m w Fnrf ^iti arr<r ^r, ffft ¥t 
ftt qrw 5RR pij% w flraT pAt *if *rta Hk^ wf 
1% FS% ^TRFT 5WTOT f*HT I 1r 9TiWT ¥t 3PT, frffrq? 
;f$|3W |S'

* • •111•••

80*.Vide Hariharnath 2 an dans Varta Sahltya - P.482* 

(Quoted from Bhakta-mala Ka^rit - 519“21 3TT*ft
ffcwr *.................. ♦s^iA'I- It is^said that this

incident happened in the life of S*ri VI*
81. Ihis incident is also reported in the S’rl 

Goverdhananath^Ikl Prakatya Viria.
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The first incident stows that GO 

kn<|w well the phychology of love: unless the feeling 

of love has not dawned at all in human heart,., 

how can he love anything or any person? This also 

shows his selflessness and absence of avariciousness, 

for he did not accept a millionaire as his disciple.

The second incident shows how he loved the devotees^ 
4he Bhagavatlyes•

He was an efficient swimmer and a good 

horse-rider. During journey he rode a horse. When 

he went to Gujarat, he rode the horse Gan^cala. He 
used to go for a stroll on horse-back. His courage 1 

as a swimmer can be seen from the incident, when,at 

the age of nine, he rescued^merchant’s horse from 

a swift current of a river.

His physical personality is described, 

by his disciples in many ehlogies (Btotras) . It is 

stated that his was a magnificent and attractive 

physique. J He resembled his father YT in points

82. Yide M.L.Gandhi's Life of GO - P.164 and Haridas’s 

Viraha-glta : WT% ...... tJm,

8 5. Cf^r©»tH<S% J - Hariraya jit; Gokule s1 an am avail,

Anugraha Yol. 1% Ho. 11 - 12, P. %
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84of physique and nature and moral virtues.

Generally he wore a ’dhoti* and a cotton shawl 
(Uttarlya). He kept a long hair readhing the 
hips.^ He was wearing ear-ring and tying flower-

deaths on the braids of hair. His coup lesion
86 *was a little blackish. It was his habit to chew 

beetle leaves throughout the day.
Be was a great guru and teacher. He had 

both the qualities of a good teacher s vast knowledge
and the manner of imparting;„_itj _ both (kriya) and

- ^ — 87saiakranti in the words of Kalidasa. The
Yaeanamrta literature speaks volumes for his capacity

84. Gf. dTddvft gffrfSN %••• Gopaldas, Havakhyana ljfo.9 

and .nw<r*f WTWft*** Anugraha Yol.15, 11-12, P.4.

85. of. ptot -
Gopaldas* Gujarata - Gamana - Lila t Kill - 76 

(Anugraha XY - P.411

86. _0f. -
Harirayajl t - Gokules’astaka St .Sac 7*

87. Of. f^Kgrr f^n qRFrfoccm gwr, f^nsnmrri
«w im m ’ •• **

. -r Kalidasa* . MalavTkagnlml tr a -X- 3.

(Gop-aldos
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as a teacher* He generally followed catechismal 
method, instead of lecturing method. Generally, 
he sat surrounded hy disciples in the afternoon and 
at night and religious discourses went on* they even 
put to him questions when he was taking hath or 
when he was out for a stroll or when he was engaged 
in massage. He never kept himself at a distance 
from his followers. He was a mine of information 
and anecdotes, religions and worldly, and taught 
religions andp philosophical doctrines with apt 
illustrations and with humour. it-4s--due-4»--hiai-that
If'S .i— — i. '
the varta - literature (84 and. 252 Vartas , Bija - .
Varta, Bhava - Sindhu etc.) heeauee became popular; 
and no one will deny that this literature has become 
very useful to the Vaisnavas for fixity of religions 
fervour (MT<PpdT) • He always laid stress on both 
ISama-Seva end 8varupa-seva and practised it in 
his own life.®8

He was a master of Bhagavata and its 
commentary SubodhinI as is evinced by his Badl-flka.

He followed the footsteps of his father and grandfather 
and became instrumental in the propagation and

IfcC.
consolidation of^Pustimarga. It would not be an 
exaggeration to state that S*ri VL laid the foundation

(y- JVA.V-JT fcJvAj ^ Kft 7 )
88. Of. 3114 ..is also true of GO.
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r«- _of^Pustimarga. S’ri ?$ built an extensive structure 
on it and GO developed and protectedjit* He was one 

of the true exponents of Pu«ta:»a»?Pustibhakti, 

whose basis is the grace of the Lord, the doctrine 

of Prsmeya, and preached that Lord’s seva is the prime 

duty of a Vaisnava, and all other activities and 

traditions, either Vedifc or worldly, are subordinate 
to it* He himself acted accordingly*8^ But he 

did not ignore Yedic or Smrti injunctions. He did 
sevi himself and whenever8^ he was out, he instructed 

his relatives and servants to be careful in the 

performance of seva* One incident bespeaks his 

love for the Lord. , When the creditors stopped the

89(a) Kollela XII - laraAga 3 states how he himself
JC

collected valuable articles («i( fa JTT*fa fvM )

and put in a box and went to bed after fully satisfy— 
that

ing himself/everything was alright. Head « -

SffTT-ftfo hwh4i

fftWfcT l

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxx

gsTfcq nt ssm w crra# 
gfiwr hifar^Fr yf^T jftrafi

^s^rr^farci: 11
- Eallola^ XII -

89(b) Of. HarirayajI*

Gokule s ’ anama va4*x •

3*
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Hajabhoga of S'ri Navanitapriyaji, be was muck 

pained, to see it and did not take meals. He assured 

the creditors that he would pay off the debts and 

there was no hindrance to the seva of S*ri 

Havsnitaprxyajx. He taught, therefore, that a 

Vaisnavs/J should not incur debt for the lord’s seva, 
and should do.it within thStr means8^0^. He used 

to say that^Pustimarga accepted all people in its 

fold, irrespective of caste or social status and 
initiated into^Pustiraarga even low taste people, in 

the manner of his father. He set an example 

of nobility of character by practising himself 

the virtues like generosity and self-denial, 

tolerance and temperance, Bhagavat-seva and Hama-seva. 

He liked music and employed musicians for the kirtana- 

seva. In one of the p a das, Dharmadasa says that

srK*ft% srarrtr 1 trnfr !*♦ . . . . . . . .  90. ihe^e
virtues of his attracted many Vaisnavas from different 

p8rts of India, but mostly from Gujarat.

89c c). of. ct*r eft JjBfSr tftm mm*

HTqTJ#? -------------

Gopaldas: 1‘attvarthadohanas Anugraha XIV - P.359-

90. Hariharnath landam Varta-sahxtya P.290 & Head-.
rlJi •- ! — •Jrt
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Some of his followers,^ later called 

Bharuci Vaisnavas, began to look upon Mm, even _ 

during his life-time, as the Highest God, and depicted 

him as such in their works, but he was very humble and 
taught them that the lord is supreme*^1 Mahavadasa 

goes to the extent of saying that the svarupa of GO 
is the same as Lord Krsna*^ These Vaisnavss have

91. of. jpfttrr: *rf -f5rfcm*r H5F%
SRjf^r tmriVrTftrrf ? *
^nftfcU - SSjTcxPTCtfN - - -ftHforw Tfcf HTtfTtrftl

Also note the incident noted in j{ V Wr H* Hh*T
-■ «, J ft Ol TX~ « " • ♦

«TfTHTIWFT HTlWrpnT HTflHTWM? VPujpOTT HTT WC WT^TT

?*rf ?fWr rqt wmr^t 1^rat ^ fwrk ^ 33J V 
,,dtrr<1t gnfc m wvfn^ft %M c*rr^ f*R<rt ¥ttft «r 
"Tf rre, spth rrw gtnrt infr Wt wn^i*' * r*n% arnrr

%» TT *f¥ Tft* gent' jiTfif $ WT^Tt I"

-Anugraha - HI - P.J61.

92. of. Vn%m §<r sm 3j% wvft ftnrrif m*r 11
% tttvQQ p ot, Myn n

- Hasakos1 a ZVT - 146 (unpublished)

and wt Wtfyrftvrf WnWITt TOT^f^rTH: I

3*tT sffarsWts *f T*l% s^Ri: I i
- Yallabhaglta, eawt© ¥ - Pusti-sudha ¥01.5. 

Ho.7 — 8.
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written in details stout his l^ohtijje (nitya-caritra)
and also shout his physical personality*^* Much of

these descriptions "appears to have a tinge of

exaggeration, hut they give us an idea of his daily

routine right from rising up to going to hed, how he

bathed, wore clothes, did seva, taught his children,
etc. Vallahh-glfcT of Mahavadasa describes in details

his face, hair, feet, famd, virtues etc* One may not

finsi. all this literature in good taste, hut it ;
94proves the fact that these followersJ had immense 

love for GO and that they found supreme bliss 4his 

company,
Harirayajl (who is, by no means,, a blind 

follower) and Krsnaraya (GO’s sister’s son) and
Ml

— — t 95others have written astakas and namavalis in praise
' • •

93. Vide Gokules’astaka by Barirayaji and also.

Mahavadasa* s Vallabhagita and Vallabhscaritra and

Gopaldasa’s Tattvarthedohana and lityacaritra by several 

writers, '
94. She Vallabha-Eatna-Basajaya-Bhakta-Baja (Unpublished) 

(dated Magha S’ukta PancMami of 1735 V.S.) of Vallabhadas 

and Sura;ji Bhargava has given the list of the followers 

of GO with their names and native . places* Iheir number 

was in 1733 V.S. was nearly five thousand.

95. Vide Anugraha Vol.15 Ho.11 & IE.



of GO, which fact proves that he must have been a 

very popular and brilliant Gosvamx. Shri M.O.

Parekh, a disinterested and non-sectarian author 

writes*

MGokulanath, besides being a man of action, 

was something of an original religion* teacher. In 

this matter, the mantle of his father and grandfather 

bad fallen on his shoulders* Besides winning a 

victory over the opponents of his faith, he did much 

to consolidate it in many ways ••••••. he carried

further the work of his father and helped much in the 

spread of the movement* So outstanding was his 

personality that he has been considered the third 

great leader of the church by its followers*

Gokulnath, had six brothers, three, of 

whom were older than himself and three younger. By 

his talents, strength of character and high spirituality, 

he overshadowed all of them easily, and the leadership 

of the church may well have rested with him especially 
as the times were stoi^y and the movement was going 

through persecution* This resulted in many Vaisnavas 

looking, upon him as the only true successor of his 
father .*.H^ ........

96* M*0#P§rekht Shri Yallabhacharya, F*292 & 300* Also, read 

Bombay Gazetteer Vol.IX* *‘¥ittalnath died, in A.D.I583 at

the age .of ninety, leaving seven sons, ssb-svarup, each of
^ « „ - - ' ’ ' '' ’ * *

whom established a separate seat or Gadi* Of them the most

distinguished for learning and tact was the fourth son 

Gokulnathji.*1
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He was very much respected and consulted 
by the generation next to his. Hariraysjl! ,<? grandson 

of his elder brother Govindarayajx, was initiated by 

him (GO) and has written stotras in praise of GO, 

lounger Gosvamis turned to him whenever some disputes 

arose. Such an incident is as follows*
. . . Dtfa^kes’ajix of. the * Third House1, did

not give Madhusudangi of the ‘Sixth House* his 
personal deity CSevya &war up a), andthe dispute was 

taken to <gefG0 , who said that it would bring 

discredit to their family, if a suit was filed in the 
court and he persuaded Dwao^kes'ajl . to part with 

Balakrsnaji^ the 4evya 4>varupa of MadhusudanjI.

God has six qualities: ais’varya, ?ivy8, 

4'ri, las'as, fnma and Vairagya. GO is said to be 

the yas* as-svarupa of God, whose other qualities are 

dormant in him.

(x) Last days of his Life*.

It appears that no note-worthly incident, 

after Mala-prasahga, took place in his after-life.

Life was, then, usual and peaceful. He enjoyed himself 

in Bhagavat-seva and teaching his followers religious 

doctrines and practices. It is possible that he might 

have written certain works during this last phase of 

life.
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A MS, in the sarasvatl Bhandara of 
Kahkaroli (Hindi Section lo. 101-1), dated 1746 ¥.S. 

gives an account" that of an event in GQ’s life.

Krsna Bhatta of Ujjain had asked his son 

to send a MS (a pothi that he had written himself) 

to GO. That pothi contained, it appears, some 

incidents of 84 and 252 Yartas, and GO conceived 

great reverence for it. So he always read it. It 
also tells us that after many years^/passed, he could 

not read it, hut touched it to his eyes with

the same reverence. This leads us to surmise that 

in the after-life, GO might have lost his eyesight 

or his eyes might have been too weak; to read anything. 

In the beginning, he put the pothi himself in the 

trunk and locked it, but later he asked his son 

Yitthalar ay a g i to do so. Hence probably his eyes might 

have been toq£ weak. But it should be noted that no 

any other work on the life of GO speaks of it,, 

excepting a reference7, made by GiridharajX Maharaja. 

The birth-day of GO known in the sect as Slaha-utsava 

began to be celebrated by the followers with great 

pomp from 1691 or 1692 T.S. and onwards and several

97. Vide Chapter III(b)(ii) for the relevant quotation.
98. Gf.«3ft iftfelTPrsilf -

- GiridharajX’s 120 Vacanamrtas - P.80.
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works describe its celebration, e.g. Sat a S'obhana 

of Haridasbhai, describing it, were sung in the 

presence of G0f himself. Similarly, a big work, 
named Svar%arubhava-meha-utsava, having 113 ma£galas, 

describes the celebration in details, where GO*s 

rising, sitting, going, etc., (himself without any 

help from others) are described, but there is no 

reference to the loss of the eyes. is-m-ade-. Bhakta - 
BhavSrtha of Gopaladasa refer^s to his ill-health, 

but does not refer to the loss of his eyes. It is 

possible that he did not read that pothi, but touched 

it to his eyes, because he read it several times. So, 

the description in question does not conclusively
aqprove that GO had lost eyes during his last days.

He passed away from this mortal world on 

the nineth day of the dark half of the month of Magha 

of 1697 V.S., living a long and purposeful life of 

89 years. Bis end was a great shock to his close

99* Shri Bin Dayal Gupta has noted in the footnote 
on page, So.137 of his thesis Astachjjiapa Aura 

Ysllabha Sampradaya, on the strength of a 

Statement by Shri Kantha Mani Shastri that Shri 

GO lost his eyes in his after-life. But as noted 

above no conclusive proof about it is available.
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disciples, so muck so that some of. Ms disciples,
Icnown as 78 BhagavadiyasJ'00 died out of the pangs 

of separation from him, taking either poison or drowning f| 
themselves in rivers or ponds.

He has left an indelible impression 
as a Gosvlml in the history of the Pustlmarga, more 

as its interepreter and * consolidator*. India 
considers Manhood greater; than Jodhood. She great,
Tyasa declared in the Mahabharata that - - - —
- ij^f ft -

I ,0L ----------------- -(l tell you the top secret,

that nothing, is greater than ^ah.) Disciples of GO 
raised him to the pinnacle of Godhood, but it should 
be observed that the 'Man* in GO is the most 
attractive virtue of his, which should inspire the 
followers of the Pustimarga to become a perfect
Vaisnava.

• •

Cxi) GO*s personal Deity and Puranic References to GO

In the end, two things need be mentioned* 
one about his sevya svarupa, his personal deity and the 
other about puranic references to GO.

100. Tide Appendix - 4.
to I , cf, Cl-H*- Lfl-lo-
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Ike 4evya 4>varupa of GO was S’ri

_ - - a,£a’c.<j 5 fjB
Gokulanathaoi ^p.a-6 ofg^-Ka^at^. After making a 

permanent residence at Gokul, .S’ri TO gave each of 

his seven sons one Bvarupa (i.e. idol), when* they 

should worship and daily. Go got the iSvarupa of 

S*ri GOf as hiS /Sevya. It is said that there was 

pancayatana-puja in the house of the father-in-law 

of S’ri YL. All: those five idols of God^f were given 

to S’ri VL by his mother-in-law. S’ri VL kept the 

idol of S’ri GO as his sevya and others (S’iva,
Surya, Bhavani and Genes’a) were offered into the ^

ta'

Ganges• However Murlidarda&P^ says that S’ri 

VL kept S’iligrSna only and he does not speak of the 

of S’ri GO. Tradition goes to say that this idol 

was worshipped by Indr a. When Indr a was humbled down

- ‘ ^ 4

102. See li^a-Varta (ed. Lallubhai 0. Desai)
Erasanga Ho.34 P.69, snd also Giridhar^I Maharaja

ke 120 Vac|&nsmr|'tas Ho.63 and No.114 and fattvartha- 

dohana - Anugraha, Vol. 10 Ho.10 P.544B.Also see 

Kankaroli MS (Hindi Bandha Ho.101 - 1) dated. 1746, 

Vsrta No*50, as quoted by H.Tandan in his Varta 

Sahitya, P.135*
103. of* tfnwnMW

timwi FrPsnr^ - Muralidharaf.S’rl Vallabha- 

carya~earitaA, p.6.
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by Lord Krsna, be came to Him and implored that He
• • •

should allow him (Indra) to serve Him (Krsna)* Lord

Krsna gave him the. idol in question and Indra worshipped
• « •

it for a long time• Then, the idol came to the hands

of Havana who worshipped it for a long time and then,
♦ -

by the anapp- passage of time* it came to the family 

of the father-in-law of B’ri YL. Such an edificejof 
an unchronological anecdote is ejected ground this

idol*
The idol is five to six inches high, and

is made of black stone. It feas four hands. With one
4ight hand, is raised the mount Govardhana, and in the

left hand there is a conch-shell, in which all the
heavy rains, it is said, are absorbed; with the other
two_hands, the Lord is playing on the flute. The

seat is made of lotus. It is said that it is this
idol which represents the svarupa of the Lord who raised

. IQi
the mount Govardhana, when it rained heavily in Vraoa. 
To-day, every year on the eighth day of the dark half 

of As'vina, this svarupa is taken in the easy seat 
(4ukhapala) to Girirsga or Jatipura from Gokul and the 
right of the ceremony of Govardhana-tugs by the Gosvami

104. Vide the pads* *ftfSFTT«r - - Kaki

Vallabhajl‘s bilavala.
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of the ‘Fourth House* is still maintained#

■Various authorities are cited in a 
Gujarati work on the Life of GQ10-^, as regards the 

predictions about the incarnations of God injthe 

forms of S*ri VL, S*ri TO and S*ri GO. For example,

it is stated 4s that in the Brahmanda Purana %
• • • r

it is said that in the Kali age the. Lord will take birth
as Krsna, Buddha, Vitthalfcs'a and Kalki.106

• •• • *
Similarly, there is quoted a dialogue 

between Vasistha and Ramac^andra from Idipurana's 

Uttara-Khanda.where Vasistha says that in the 

Kaliysaga, the Highest Lord will be born as S'ri 
Gokulanath.10? . .

In the same way, Kalayana Bhatta mentions 
an authority10® of Xdi-purana,which says that God will 

take birth as S*ri GO., . .

--------,—■>.-------- ,—--------

105* Vide Maganlal L# Gandhi's Life of GO, Chapter 5^ 

Part I.

106. IbicWP.62.

107. wtfmwt wt mtt wfr mn
it’Wits Wlt«T: fTTofy: | Hell

t 5^*rtcx(*ft MVxRcwt wtObtir-. i •
Wf Wftt ftmf ifer M=l W?.68.69-Ibid.

Vide Kallola lo.l faranga 59 - St. IS to 20.108.



All these authorities appear to be 
unanthentic, I have tried to trace the^tanzas 
quoted from the work Vallabha-Vllasa,109 but I 

could not find these stanzas in the Acli-purana.
I feel, therefore, that some over-enthusiastic 
followers of SO might have fabricated these 
authorities to give them an air of ancient-ness. 
Such attempts do more harm than service to the 
sect.
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109• I have seen only the 3rd and the 4th parts of
this work, I could not come across the first ^ 

part<f.


